COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-KP-00842-COA

FILED

LARRY PRESS WELLS
APPELLANT

JAN 9 8 2010
OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Larry Wells, #82067 10451 Larkin Smith Dr. Harrison County Jail Gulfport, MS 39501

Appellant, pro se

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. I

WHETHER VERDICT OF JURY WAS AGAINST OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE.

ISSUE NO. II

WHETHER THE HABITUAL ENHANCEMENT OF WELLS SENTENCE IS ILLEGAL WHERE THE STATE WAS PERMITTED TO SUCCESSIVELY AMEND THE INDICTMENT TO THE DETRIMENT OF THE DEFENDANT, THEREBY TAKING MORE THEN ONE BITE OF THE APPLE, AND WHERE EVIDENCE OF SECOND AMENDMENT WAS KNOWN AND AVAILABLE TO STATE AT THE TIME OF THE FIRST AMENDMENT. SUCH ERROR CONSTITUTES PLAIN ERROR WHICH EFFECTS THE SENTENCE AND MAY, THUS, BE PRESENTED FOR THE VERY FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

ISSUE NO. III.

THE SECOND AND SUBSEQUENT DRUG ENHANCEMENT OF WELL'S SENTENCE IS ILLEGAL WHERE THE MOTION TO AMEND INDICTMENT AND SENTENCING ORDER FAIL TO MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF LAW AND THEREFORE CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND PLAIN ERROR AS WELL AS IMPROPERLY ALLOWED THE STATE A SECOND BITE OF THE APPLE IN SEEKING ENHANCEMENT WHEN THE SAME EVIDENCE WAS AVAILABLE AND USED IN THE INITIAL AMENDMENT TO CHARGE HABITUAL STATUS.

ISSUE NO. IV.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE INDICTMENT TO BE AMENDED.

ISSUE NO. V.

APPELLANT WELLS WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORILY
GUARANTEED RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL UNDER THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED
STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI.

ISSUE NO. VI.

WELLS SENTENCE OF SIXTY (60) YEARS WITHOUT PAROLE AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER AND AS A SECOND AND SUBSEQUENT DRUG OFFENDER, FOR POSSESSION OF A SMALL AMOUNT OF COCAINE, AND WHERE THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE INTENT, CONSTITUTES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

ISSUE NO.VII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING WELLS MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE WHICH WAS ILLEGALLY OBTAINED BY THE STATE WHEN THE TRIAL COURT DENIED THE APPELLANT HIS RIGHT NOT TO INCRIMINATE HIMSELF AS GUARANTEED BY THE 5TH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED

STATES CONSTITUTION AND APPLIED TO THE STATES BY THE 14TH AMENDMENT..

ISSUE NO. VIII.

APPELLANT WAS SUBJECTED TO INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

ISSUE NO. IX.

APPELLANT SUFFERED CUMULATIVE ERROR WHICH CAUSED HIM TO BE DEPRIVED OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF 5TH AND 14TH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION..

4.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant is presently incarcerated and is being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections where he is presently temporarily confined to the Harrison County, Mississippi, Jail, in service of the term imposed in this case. Appellant has been continuously confined, in regards to such sentence, since date of conviction and imposition of sentence thereof by the trial court.

5.

STATEMENT OF CASE

On October 1, 2007, an indictment was filed in the First Judicial District of Harrison County Circuit Court, Mississippi, charging Appellant with possession of cocaine, a schedule II substance, with intent to transfer. (c. p. 8). Appellant was represented at trial by Glen F. Rishel,

Jr. of Gulfport, Mississippi. Appellant was subsequently convicted and sentenced to a double enhance sentence of 60 years as a habitual offender¹ and second and subsequent drug offender². (c. p 72)

Being aggrieved by the verdict and sentence, Appellant Wells perfected an appeal of the conviction and sentence of the Circuit Court of The First Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi.

Appellant is now proceeding with the preparation and filing of his brief in the court prose, which will contain a total of fourteen (14) separate claims for reversal.

6.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. I.

WHETHER VERDICT OF JURY WAS AGAINST OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE.

The verdict of the jury was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and contrary to law, and the court should have granted Appellant Wells' Motions for directed verdict, or alternative a new trial. Appellant Wells' defense at trial was actual innocence. Appellant Wells

Except as otherwise provided in Section 41-29-142, any person convicted of a second or subsequent offense under this article may be imprisoned for a term up to twice the term otherwise authorized, fined an amount up to twice that otherwise authorized, or both.

For purposes of this section, an offense is considered a second or subsequent offense, if, prior to his conviction of the offense, the offender has at any time been convicted under this article or under any statute of the United States or of any state relating to narcotic drugs, marihuana, depressant, stimulant or hallucinogenic drugs.

¹ 99-19-81. Sentencing of habitual criminals to maximum term of imprisonment.

Every person convicted in this state of a felony who shall have been convicted twice previously of any felony or federal crime upon charges separately brought and arising out of separate incidents at different times and who shall have been sentenced to separate terms of one (1) year or more in any state and/or federal penal institution, whether in this state or elsewhere, shall be sentenced to the maximum term of imprisonment prescribed for such felony, and such sentence shall not be reduced or suspended nor shall such person be eligible for parole or probation.

² 41-29-147. Second and subsequent offenses.

moved for a directed verdict at the end of State presentation of evidence and at the close of State case ((Tr. 197). The argument presented in support of the motion provide the following:

MR. RISHEL: Your Honor, as you know

since the State has rested, the defense moves for a directed verdict in that a motion for directed verdict tests the legal sufficiency of evidence. The Court must consider all of the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, and the State must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence.

If the facts and inferences so considered point in favor of the defendant of any element of the offense with sufficient force so that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty, then granting the motion is required.

In support of the motion, we would point
out first that taking the evidence in the
light most favorable to the State and giving
them the benefit of any reasonable inferences

that they can draw from the evidence, the crime that my client can be charge with and convicted of is possession of a controlled substance. The State — and he could also be charged with petty larceny.

It seems to me that my client -- well, first, let's look at the evidence. The fact of the matter is no one saw my client buy any controlled substance from anyone. He was not searched prior to the time that he got into the car with the undercover officer. So there is two reasonable inferences that can be drawn from what occurred after my client got out of the vehicle and went around those bushes: One, he bought some drugs; or two, he took \$20 and spent it on something or just hid it somewhere, because he had \$40, and he basically just stole \$20 from the State of Mississippi and then came back to the vehicle. Now, he -- and he already had the crack cocaine on his person when he came back to the vehicle. Consequently, the only issue

then becomes, well, did he try -- was his intent to sell the -- to convey that or distribute it to officer Guynes.

Well, if that was his intent, he did a lousy job of it, because the man is sitting right there next to him. All he had to do is hand it to him. But he didn't. He put it in a crack pipe and began -- and attempted to smoke it. Now, the State is going to say, well, he's just trying to get this other guy to smoke it so they can smoke it together and then he'll know that this guy is okay and he can complete this deal. Well, complete what? He still had \$20 of the State's money of his person. He didn't have -- if he had the cocaine that he put into the pipe, the less than a tenth of a gram, then he didn't have enough money to buy this \$40 thing that this officer was trying to buy.

The fact of the matter is, is that the more reasonable inference from all of this evidence is that my client recognized that

this guy was giving him \$40; he could use the money for himself, whatever purposes he may have for it. And that if he could somehow get this guy to smoke this dope with him, well, then he would in fact be — he would in fact be able to get away from this guy and do whatever he needed to do, because they would both be high on cocaine.

But the fact of the matter is, is there
is no proof that my client intended to do
anything with this cocaine other than smoke
it, because that's certainly what he attempted to do before he
was stopped.

There's also the fact that the undercover officer mentioned that he kept telling — asking my client where is mine; where is mine? Referring to his cocaine.

Where is mine? My client didn't give him any. Well, if he intended to give it to him, which would be, you know, possession with intent, then he could have simply. The man was right there in the same truck with him.

So I think that the -- if the Court were to consider all of that and give the State the most reasonable inferences that he can draw from this evidence, the result is that the defendant is guilty of possession of cocaine, and that the -- and that he's guilty of taking \$20 that belonged to the State of Mississippi, and he attempted to take \$40 that belonged to the State of Mississippi. And I think that's the only reasonable conclusion you could reach on this set of facts. Nobody saw my client purchase cocaine. Nobody saw my client with the cocaine in his possession other than Guynes who said that he put it into a crack pipe to smoke it, and that no one -- at no time did he attempt to give this to Mr. Guynes or sell it to anybody. Officer Guynes' testimony is the only testimony that my client did anything wring that day.

'So we would ask Your honor to grant a directed verdict as far as the indictment is

concerned that my client is in possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver and intent to distribute it.

THE COURT:

That's what I'm hearing.

MR. RISHEL:

I understand. I suppose --

Yes, sir. I'm asking for two things: One, that it be a directed verdict because they indicted him for one crime which is possession with intent, which is an entirely separate crime, separate and independent of possession. And that if Your Honor is — does not think that the evidence would support that but would in fact support a striking the intent, then we would ask Your Honor to do that. But we think we're entitled to a directed verdict because the evidence just simply doesn't rise to the demands of the law as fat as possession wit

intent is concerned.

THE COURT:

Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:

Yes, Your Honor, I think Mr.

Rishel correctly stated the standard for a directed verdict, and I would argue that the evidence in this case clearly meets that burden, and that each of the elements is met of the crime of possession with intent, including the intent portion. The possession part of the indictment is met, as Mr. Rishel stated, by a sworn police officer, Officer Guynes, saying I saw crack cocaine in the defendant's hand and then saw him place it in the crack pipe.

Where I think we differ on what we heard today was that he said he saw him put it in the pope for Officer Guynes to smoke, and that in itself would be an intent to transfer. And that he, Officer Guynes, testified that when he put it in the pipe, he said you're going to take a hit first before I give you the rest of it.

THE COURT:

All right. All of the

arguments that have been made her by both counsel are arguments that can certainly be made to the jury. The jury will have to weigh the testimony and apply what credibility to the testimony that they deem appropriate, and also every inference that they wish to draw from the evidence that was produced. Both of you have good arrangements. We'll see how you do as far as convincing the jury that the State has failed to prove their case, a prima facie case, and see how well the State can prove or argue to the jury that guilty has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. So therefore, the motion will be overruled.

According to the testimony, Larry Wells did have cocaine in his possession but the proof and testimony brings out that Wells had or convoyed no intent to distribute the substance. When Guynes attempted to persuade Wells to do so he refused..

When seeking to prove intent to sell, transfer or deliver, the state must establish more than a mere suspicion of intent. McCray v. State, 486 So.2d 1247, 1251 (Miss. 1986).

The only evidence of Wells intent to distribute cocaine is the word of Officer Guynes who is heard on the audio recording practically begging Wells to give him the cocaine when

Wells was not doing so but had put the cocaine in the pipe to smoke it Officer Guyner was attempting to get Wells to give him the drugs so that he could establish transfer and distributing. Despite Officer Guyner attempts to convince Wells to pass him the pipe, Wells never did. As the trial court stated, Appellant had a good argument. (Tr. 202). A direct verdict on the issue should have been granted. Appellant would assert that the record is not sufficient to support his conviction for possession of cocaine with intent to distribute. Our Supreme Court has consistently held that:

When reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, (an appellate court) will reverse and render only if the facts and inferences "point in favor of the defendant on any element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty. . . ." Brown v. State, 1030 (¶25) (Miss. 2007) (quoting Bush v. State, 843 (¶16) (Miss. 2005). The evidence will be deemed sufficient if "having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable fair-minded (jurors) in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions on every element of the offense ..." Brown, 965 So.2d at 1030 (¶25) (quoting Bush, 895 So.2d at 843 (¶16). The relevant question is whether "any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. "Brown, 965 So.2d at 1030 (quoting Bush, 895 So.2d at 843 (¶16). This Curt considered the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. Bush, 895 So.2d at 843 (¶16). The State receives the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonable be drawn from the evidence. Wilson v. State, 363 (Miss. 2006) (citing Hawthorne v. State, 22 (Miss. 2003).

Proof of possession with an intent to distribute or sell should not be based solely upon surmise or suspicion. There must be evidentiary facts which will rationally produce in the minds of jurors a certainty, a conviction beyond reasonable doubt that the defendant did in actual fact intend to distribute or sell the cocaine, not that he might have such intent. It must be evidence in which a reasonable jury can sink its teeth. Miller v. State 634 So.2d 127, 129 (Miss. 1994) (quoting Stringfield v. State, 588 So.2d 438, 440 (Miss. 1991).

In the instance case there was no such evidentiary facts to support proof of intent to distribute. The proof was lacking and the verdict by jury was therefore against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

This case should be reversed and remanded to the trial court and new trial ordered. In the alternative this court should find that the trial court should have found tat the evidence constituted an offense of possession or petty larceny.

ISSUE NO. II

WHETHER THE HABITUAL ENHANCEMENT OF WELLS SENTENCE IS ILLEGAL WHERE THE STATE WAS PERMITTED TO SUCCESSIVELY AMEND THE INDICTMENT TO THE DETRIMENT OF THE DEFENDANT, THEREBY TAKING MORE THEN ONE BITE OF THE APPLE, AND WHERE EVIDENCE OF SECOND AMENDMENT WAS KNOWN AND AVAILABLE TO STATE AT THE TIME OF THE FIRST AMENDMENT. SUCH ERROR CONSTITUTES PLAIN ERROR WHICH EFFECTS THE SENTENCE AND MAY, THUS, BE PRESENTED FOR THE VERY FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

Rule 11.03 of the Miss. Unif. Rules of Circuit and County Court practice provides the following:

Rule 11.03 ENHANCEMENT OF PUNISHMENT

In cases involving enhanced punishment for subsequent offenses under state statutes:

- 1. The indictment must include both the principal charge and a charge of previous convictions. The indictment must allege with particularity the nature or description of the offense constituting the previous convictions, the state of federal jurisdiction of any previous conviction, and the date of judgment.
- 2. Separate trials shall be held on the principal charge and on the charge of previous convictions. In the trial on the principal charge, the previous convictions will not be mentioned by the state or the court except as provided by the Mississippi Rules of Evidence.

3. If the defendant is convicted or enters a plea of guilty on the principal charge, a hearing before the court without a jury will then be conducted on the previous convictions.

The motion to amend the indictment filed against Appellant provides the following in regards to the habitual offender status:

That he, the said LARRY PRESTON WELLS, is an habitual criminal who is subject to being sentenced as such pursuant to Section 99-19-81, Miss. Code of 1972, as amended, in that he, the said LARRY PRESTON WELLS has been convicted at least twice previously of felonies or federal crimes upon charges separately brought and arising out of separate incidents at different times and has been sentenced to separate terms of imprisonment of one (1) year or more in a state and/or more in a state and/or federal penal institution, to wit:

- (1) On may 10, 1993, he, the said LARRY PRESTON WELLS, was convicted n the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, in Cause Number 26-654 of the felony of Transfer of a Controlled Substance, and, on May 10, 1993, in said Court, was sentenced to a term of three (3) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections; and,
- (2) On May 10, 1993, he, the said LARRY PRESTON WELLS, was convicted in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, in Cause Number 27, 445 of the felony of Uttering Forgery, and, on May 10, 1993, in said Court, was sentenced to a term of three (3) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections; against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi. (R. 10-11)

The Order amending the indictment provides the following:

ORDER AND ADJUDGED that the Indictment in the cause be and it is hereby amended to reflect the habitual status of LARRY PRESTON WELLS as follows:

THAT he, the said LARRY PRESTON WELLS, is an habitual criminal who is subject to being sentenced as such pursuant to Section 99-19-81, Miss.

Code of 1972, as amended, in that he, the said LARRY PRESTON WELLS has been convicted at least twice previously of felonies or federal crimes upon charges separately brought and arising out of separate incidents at different times and had been sentenced to separate terms of imprisonment of one (1) year or more in a state and/or federal penal institution, to wit:

- (1) On May 10, 1993, he, the said LARRY PRESTON WELLS, was convicted in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, in Cause Number 26, 654 of the felony of Transfer of a Controlled Substance, and, on May 10, 1993, in said Court, was sentenced to a term of three (3) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections; and,
- (2) On May 10, 1993, he, the said LARRY PRESTON WELLS, was convicted in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, in Cause Number 27, 445 of the felony of Uttering Forgery, and, on May 10, 1993, in said Court, was sentenced to a term of three (3) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections; against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi. (R. 24-25)

Rule 11.03 is clear that the indictment must allege with particularity the ... state or federal jurisdiction, the motion to amend the indictment and the order allowing the amendment fail to set out the jurisdiction of the prior convictions by failing to set out that such convictions occurred in the First or Second Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi. The motion merely states that the convictions occurred in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, in Cause No. 26-654 and Cause No. 27-445. According to Rule 11.03, which is a valid Rule of law, this was not sufficient to meet the requirements of alleging habitual offender status.

In <u>Washington v. State</u>, 478 So.2d 1028, 1031, 1032 (Miss. 1985), the court found, under Rule 6.04, the predecessor of Rule 11.03 that:

The indictment must include both the principal charge and a charge of previous convictions. The indictment must allege 1032 with particularity the nature or description of the offense constituting the previous felonies, the state and federal jurisdiction of previous conviction, and the date of judgment.

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