IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LARRY PRESS WELLS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KP-0842

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

The Appellant then says that he merely intended to share a pipe of cocaine with Guynes, rather than to distribute it.¹ The facts, however, show that this is not what the Appellant's intention

¹ It will not be necessary here to consider the somewhat metaphysical question of whether sharing narcotics with another is in law distributing narcotics to another.

was. It is certainly true that the Appellant wanted Guynes to smoke some of the cocaine, yet the Appellant's comments made at the time clearly demonstrate why. The Appellant told Guynes that he had done "hard time" before and that he did not want to return to prison. Given the context, the Appellant clearly believed that it would be strong proof that Guynes was not involved in law enforcement if Guynes smoked the cocaine. It was, in any event, at most a jury question as to whether the Appellant actually only intended to smoke the cocaine that Guynes paid for, or whether the Appellant merely wanted to be sure that Guynes was not working with law enforcement by having Guynes smoke cocaine.

We will point out, though, that it hardly seems sensible to say, as the Appellant evidently does, that he only intended to smoke the cocaine that Guynes had given him money for. This would be rather like giving a store clerk money for a purchase and then permitting her to keep it for herself. It seems to us that no reasonable juror could believe that the Appellant, after having taken money from Guynes, then went back to Guynes' truck and merely wanted to smoke Guynes' purchase with Guynes. That clearly was not the reason for which Guynes gave the Appellant the money.

That the Appellant had twenty of the dollars given him for the cocaine does not indicate that the Appellant did not intend to distribute what cocaine he had or had purchased. Whether he did or did not have enough to purchase a "40" does not indicate that the Appellant did not intend to distribute what he did have.

It may be true that more than suspicion of intent must be shown in an intent to distribute case, but here there is no mere suspicion. Guynes asked the Appellant for a particular quantity of crack cocaine. The Appellant agreed to provide Guynes with cocaine, got into Guynes's truck, got some cocaine and returned to Guynes's truck with the cocaine. This is not a case of two buddies who went looking for cocaine, found some to buy, and then shared it. The only reason Guynes spoke to the

Appellant was to make a purchase of cocaine, and that is the only reason Guynes supplied it.

It may be that the Appellant never actually gave Guynes cocaine. But it was unnecessary to show that he did. The Appellant was charged with having possessed the cocaine with the intention of distributing it, not with having distributed it.

The evidence was quite sufficient to support the charge brought against the Appellant. It was a matter for the jury to consider whether the Appellant merely possessed cocaine, rather than possessed it with the intent to distribute it. The trial court committed no error in denying relief on the Appellant's motion for a directed verdict.

As for whether the trial court erred in refusing to grant a new trial on the claim that the verdict was contrary to the great weight of the evidence, we note that there was no defense case - in-chief. There was no evidence that might be said to be contrary to the verdict, much less greatly so. The verdict does not constitute an unconscionable injustice. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant a new trial.

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING AN AMENDMENT TO THE INDICTMENT

In the Second Assignment of Error, the Appellant claims that the trial court erred in permitting an amendment to the indictment. Several reasons are alleged why this is so.

The Appellant was indicted on 1 October 2007 for possession of cocaine with the intent to distribute it. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 8). On 11 October 2007, the State moved to amend the indictment so as to allege that the Appellant's habitual offender status under Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-19-81. The State alleged that the Appellant had been convicted in the Circuit Court of Harrison County on 10 May 1993 of felony transfer of a controlled substance, and that he was sentenced to a term of

three years. The State further alleged that the Appellant had been convicted of uttering a forgery in the Circuit Court of Harrison County on 10 May 1993 and sentenced to a term of three years imprisonment. The motion further alleged the cause numbers of the convictions. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 11 - 12).

There was a hearing on this motion. In the course of that hearing, the State introduced "pen packs" to establish the Appellant's prior convictions. Counsel for the Appellant announced that he had no objection to the pen packs. The State then moved the court to amend the indictment.

In response, the defense asserted that it would be cruel and unusual punishment to punish the Appellant for the crimes he committed in the past. The defense also appeared to suggest that to do so would run afoul of the proscriptions against double jeopardy. It was also suggested that habitual offender statutes were unknown to the common law. It was said that to allow the amendment would be to deny the Appellant the opportunity to present his side of the case.

The Circuit Court found that the pen packs established that the Appellant had been previously convicted and sentenced as alleged in the motion. It appears that the Appellant had other prior felony convictions as well.

As that point, the Appellant addressed the court and asserted that he was not an habitual offender and that he helped Mr. Caranna during Katrina. He said he had a child in college, was attending alcoholics anonymous, made his first mistake in life when he was thirty - seven years of age, and that he was trying to change his life.

The Circuit Court then explained to the Appellant why the State could assert his habitual offender status. The Circuit Court granted relief on the State's motion on 19 November 2007. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 2 - 12; Vol. 1, pp. 24 - 25).

Here, the Appellant asserts that the amendment was invalid because it did not allege in which

judicial district of Harrison County the convictions were had.² This issue was not raised in the Circuit Court during the hearing on the motion; it may not be raised here. *Griffin v. State*, 918 So.2d 882, 886 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

Assuming for argument that the question was preserved in the trial court, there is no merit in it. The allegations of the motion to amend alleged the county of conviction and the cause numbers of the convictions, and identified the prior convictions. It may be that there was no allegation as to which judicial district of Harrison County the convictions were had, but this was unnecessary. The information provided was sufficient to identify the jurisdiction, and was sufficient to fulfil the requirements of Rule 11.03 URCCC. Rule 11.03 does not require the allegation of a judicial district, only the "state or federal jurisdiction" of the prior convictions. The State jurisdiction was Harrison County. The information provided by the State was entirely sufficient to notice the Appellant of the convictions upon which the State intended to rely. Specifically, the motion and order entered on the motion set out the nature or description of the offense, the jurisdiction in which the prior convictions were had, and the date of judgment.

The "Exhibits From Motion to Amend Hearing on 11/19/07", contained in the exhibits envelope include the sentencing order related to the Appellant's prior convictions, and it demonstrates that the prior convictions were in the First Judicial District of Harrison County. To the extent that it was error to fail to allege the judicial district involved vis a vis the predicate felonies in the motion to amend, the sentencing order relating to them surely cured any such error.

The Second Assignment of Error is without merit.

² The indictment exhibited against the Appellant in the case at bar did allege the judicial district in which the felony occurred. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 8).

3. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING AN AMENDMENT TO THE INDICTMENT SO AS TO ALLEGE ELIGIBILITY FOR ENHANCED PUNISHMENT

The State filed a motion on 24 April 2009 to amend the indictment so as to allege that the Appellant was eligible for enhanced sentencing in light of his prior conviction of transfer of a controlled substance. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 39). Relief on this motion was granted by Order filed 30 April 2009. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 43 - 44). Both the motion and the Order described the offense involved, the date of conviction, the county of conviction and the cause number. They did not set out the judicial district of Harrison County in which the conviction occurred. The Appellant raises the same claim in the Third Assignment of Error concerning this amendment as he does in the Second Assignment of Error.

There was no objection to this amendment, and certainly no objection on the ground asserted here. This being so, the issue is not before the Court. *Griffin v. State*, 918 So.2d 882, 886 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

Assuming for argument that this issue is properly before the Court, there is no merit in it. We adopt in response our argument made in response to the Second Assignment of error on the point. The motion and order thereon set out the prior convictions was sufficient to properly set out the prior convictions. The description of the prior convictions was in no way similar to that in *Vince* v. State, 844 So.2d 510 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)(Order allowing amendment to indictment wholly failed to set out details of the prior offenses).

The Appellant the claims that the trial court never made a finding as to his status as an habitual offender. The State introduced into evidence at the sentencing hearing State's Exhibits 1 and 2, which documented the Appellant's prior convictions. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 255). The Circuit Court did certainly find that the Appellant was an habitual offender. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 260). This all

occurred in a sentencing hearing consistent with Rule 11.03(2) URCCC.

The Appellant then alleges that the trial court indicated during the hearing on the first motion to amend the indictment that the State would not be permitted to introduce evidence of the Appellant's other convictions. Actually, what the trial court indicated to the prosecutor was that he was limited to the two prior convictions set out in his motion to amend the indictment, in terms of proving habitual offender status. This was because the prosecutor did not include the additional convictions in his motion. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 13). The Appellant, however, asserts that the State was somehow prohibited from seeking additional amendments to the indictment on account of this statement. He also asserts that the State should have been estopped from seeking a second indictment, that, in his view, being a "second bite of the apple".

The Appellant cites no authority for his idea. The claim should therefore be deemed abandoned. *Wall v. State*, 883 So.2d 617, 619 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004).

We are aware of no authority to the effect that the State may seek only one amendment to an indictment in order to seek enhanced sentencing. There is no authority to the effect that multiple lawful amendments to an indictment work a defect in the indictment. In *Speagle v. State*, 956 So.2d 237, 243 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) there were three amendments to the indictment. Nor has the Appellant presented authority to show or suggest that the passage of time alone may limit the State's ability to seek an amendment to an indictment. Nor has the Appellant alleged any prejudice to his defense on account of the amendments or on account of the time at which they were made.

The Third Assignment of Error is without merit.

4. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING THE INDICTMENT TO BE AMENDED

The Fourth Assignment of Error is a complaint, concerning the amendment to the indictment

which allowed doubling of the sentence on account of the Appellant's prior conviction for having transferred a controlled substance. The Appellant says that the State either should have brought both amendments concerning sentencing at the same time or should have been limited to one amendment in that regard. The Appellant invokes a putative one-bite-at-the-apple rule.

It is quite clear that these amendments were proper. These amendments did not affect the substance of the offense, but only sentencing. Under Rule 7.09 URCCC, amendments such as these are permissible. *E.g. Rayborn v. State*, 961 So.2d 70 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). There is no limitation under Rule 7.09 or under any other rule that we are aware of as to how many amendments may be sought. While the Appellant cites *Lewis v. State*, 797 So.2d 248 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) for his "one bit (*sic*) of the apple" notion, *Lewis* actually holds that prisoners in post - conviction relief are to have but one bite at the apple, as does *Smith v. State*, 434 So.2d 212 (Miss. 1983), also cited by the Appellant. Those decisions have nothing whatsoever to do with limitations on the number of times an indictment may be amended. *Debussi v. State*, 453 So.2d 1030 (Miss. 1984) is a case involving application of the proscription against double jeopardy in the context of an habitual offender sentence. The Appellant's prior convictions were properly proved; *Debussi* has no application here.

The Appellant cites *Graves v. State*, 708 So.2d 858 (Miss. 1997), though for what purpose is obscure. The decision has nothing to do with amendments of indictments.

The Appellant claims that he was prejudiced. However, he has utterly failed to demonstrate how his defense was prejudiced. That the Appellant may not have wanted to face the consequences of his criminal history is not prejudice. He has utterly failed to show that some defense was compromised by the amendments or that the amendments materially altered facts constituting the essence of the offense. *Watts v. State*, 828 So. 835, 842 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). There was no error in allowing the amendments, and no law to demonstrate that there is a limitation to the number of

amendments that may be made to an indictment.

The Fourth Assignment of Error is without merit.

5. THAT THE APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED A SPEEDY TRIAL

In the Fifth Assignment of Error, the Appellant claims that his constitutional and statutory rights to a speedy trial were violated. There was a motion to dismiss the case against the Appellant on the ground of an alleged violation of the constitutional right, (R. Vol. 1, pg. 19), but no such motion with respect to the statutory right

The record shows that the Appellant was indicted on 1 October 2007 (R. Vol. 1, pg. 8) and that he was arraigned on 5 November 2007 (R. Vol. 1, pg. 23). Trial began on 29 April 2009. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 15).

The Appellant filed no motion to dismiss the cause against him on account of an alleged violation of Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-17-1 (Rev. 2007). This Court has held that an accused will be deemed to have acquiesced in delay if he should fail to allege a violation of Section 99-17-1 within 270 days of his arraignment. *Ray v. State*, 27 So.3rd 416, 423 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). In addition to this, we note that the Appellant's argument in support of his fifth issue does not present argument in support of an alleged violation of Section 99-17-1. Consequently, the Appellant, besides being deemed to have acquiesced in the delay, must also be deemed to have abandoned his issue with respect to the claim of a violation of the "270 day rule". *Moore v. State*, 996 So.2d 756, 760 (Miss. 2008)(Assignment of error not discussed in brief is considered abandoned).

As for the claim of a denial of the constitutional right to a speedy trial, it is true that a motion to dismiss on that ground exists in the record. But it is equally true that that motion was not brought on for a hearing and that there was no hearing or ruling concerning this alleged denial. Because that motion was not brought forward for a hearing, the issue embraced by it was waived. *Reed v. State*,

No. 2008-KA-00573-COA, Slip Op. At 7-8 (Miss. Ct. App., decided 15 September 2009, Not Yet Officially Reported).

The Appellant has made no attempt to embark upon a plain error analysis in order to preserve his speedy trial claim. *Dora v. State*, 986 So.2d 917, 925 (Miss. 2008). The Assignment of Error is not properly before the Court for this reason as well.

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